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The Main Courtroom of the historic Broome County
Courthouse has undergone a complete restoration for the
first time since the dedication of the Courthouse on
November 12, 1898.

Over the years, the courtroom suffered from numerous
degradations, rendering this facility, designed to showcase
the talents of architect Isaac Perry and the pride of Broome
County in its povernmental institutions, a mere shadow of
its original dignity and splendor.

Through the commitment and perseverance of Broome
County and the Broome County Courts - Sixth Judicial
District, NYS Unified Court System, the Main Courtroom
has been accurately restored as closely as possible to its
original beauty and stature, to serve as the seat of justice
for generations to come.



= Agenda®
The Ceremony to Rededicate
The Main Courtroom, Broome County Courthouse
June 12, 2003
Master of Ceremonies: Hon. Jeffrey Kraham, Broome County Executive

I. Opening:
a. Honor Guard Flag Processional, Posting of Flags - Broome Security Staff
b. Entrance of the Judiciary
c. Opening of the Court: Court Crier
d. Invocation: Rev. Timothy Tavlor, Broome Family Court Attendant
e. Pledge of Allegiance: Song: God Bless America: Mike Husar, Chief Clerk,
Supreme & County Court

II. Remarks: For Broome County:
Hon. Jeffrey Kraham, Broome County Executiv

II1. Remarks: For the Sixth Judicial Distriet:
Hon. Robert S. Rose, Supreme Court Justice

IV. Remarks: For the NYS Legislature:
Senator Thomas W. Libous

V. Recognition of Renovation Team:
G. Russell Oechsle, Executive Assistant, 6" Judicial District

V1. Historical Perspectives: A Visual Presentation:
Evelyn Varney, Exec. Director, Preservation Association of the Southern Tier

VIIL. Remarks: For the Broome County Bar Association:
Lauren Wise, Past-President

VIIIL Clock Dedication:
Russ Oechsle (Lauren Wise & O 'Neil family)

IX. Dedication of Portrait of Hon. Robert W. Coutant, JSC (Ret.)

X. Ribbon Cutting Ceremony:
Jeff Kraham, Judge Rose, Judge O 'Shea, Sen. Libous & Judges

&Reception and Refreshments Under the Portico,
Directly After the Proceedings=»



- INTRODUCTION —
By Evelyn Varney, Executive Director
Preservation Associates of the Southern Tier

The second floor Supreme Courtroom of the Broome
County Courthouse was completed in October 1898. The
Broome County Board of Supervisors accepted the new
Courthouse on October 12, 1898. Isaac Perry was the
architect and Miles Leonard was the contractor. This is the
fifth courthouse constructed for the people of Broome
County and the third structure built on the same site. An
open house was held for the public on Saturday evening,
November 12, 1898, to commemorate its completion. For
three hours, from 7:00 p.m. until 10:00 p.m., men, women,
boys and girls visited all the rooms in the courthouse, from
the basement to the third floor, marveling at its grandeur.

Gas and electric chandeliers were hung in the
courtroom of the second floor as noted on page 3 of The
Binghamton Leader, dated Friday, October 28, 1898:

“The finest chandelier was suspended last night from the
center of the main corridor on the first floor. This
chandelier has twelve gas and fourteen electric lights. Those
in the courtroom and supervisor's chamber are nearly as
large.” It seems the committee of county buildings and
property were particular about the quality of chandeliers
used in the courthouse as 40 or more of the brass
chandeliers ordered from New York City were sent back,
noted “. . . to be inferior to those ordered by the committee”
( The Binghamton Leader, August 31, 1898, p. 2).

Gold decorative painting was originally used on the
ceiling in the courtroom as recorded in the Binghamton
Leader, dated October 11, 1898, p. 3: “The gold
decorations on courtroom and surrogate’s room ceilings
cost $81.00.”

Excerpts from the Binghamton Republican
newspaper, dated Monday, 14 Nov 1898, appear on the
next page, describing the public inspection of the completed
courthouse building.




N BLAZE OF LIGHT

) “Saturday night was the real house
Court House Throws Opsn to warming, and then the Binghamton public
General Public flocked to the place by the thousands.. the
building was lighted from the lanterns at the
WAS ADMIRED 'BY THOUSANDS front door to the room over the porch....”

Theroughly and-Unefficially Inspee-
| ted, Wonderea at, Commended
Beth Outside and Inside.

“The lighting effect from the outside of over a
thousand gas and electric lights was brilliant in the
extreme, and people who thus saw the building
from the streets realized as never before what an
architectural ornament it 1s to Binghamton.”

“Inside. the scene was equally brilliant, the
clegant fimishing and furnishings of the
buildings, being half of the attraction. the
passing show of humanity being fully as
interesting a half.”

“ As the people entered the main vestibule their “Ahs!™ “How nice!”

and “Oh my "s™ began, and these or similar expressions were to be

heard on all sides, . after which the procession led up the iron stairway

to the court room. where the expressions of appreciation were intensified.”

*“ The chandeliers and lighting standards in this
room and the Supervisor s chamber were
commented on in glowing terms.”

" Every one appeared to be pleased with the new edifice.. they
were one and all unanimous in expressing the opinion that
Broome county has an official building that can be pointed

out and inspected with pride for vears to come.”



RESTORING THE COURTROOM

Restoration of the Courtroom began with meetings
between the Sixth Judicial Court System and the Broome
County Building and Grounds Department in November of
2001. The original plaster walls containing asbestos were
removed, exposing the brick masonry walls, and then the
walls were re-plastered. The flooring was ripped out and
replaced. The dropped ceiling and grids were removed,
exposing the exquisite original tin ceiling, which was
meticulously restored, piece by piece. Fluorescent lighting
was removed and period specific lighting was purchased and
installed. Particular details follow:

CAPITAL RECONSTRUCTION

Sitting atop pilasters around the perimeter of the courtroom
are lonic capitals, two spaced equally on each wall with
double capital-topped pilasters in each corner.
Unfortunately, over time, the double capital in the southwest
corner had deteriorated to the point of replacement. S & W
Contractors did a superb job of casting new capitals and
positioning them to look original. They made a mold of one
of the existing capitals, then poured plaster into the mold,
producing an exact duplicate of the original capitals.

Upon careful inspection of the existing capitals, gold leafing
and a chocolate base color were discovered. Care was taken
to document areas of gold leaf and then replicated for the
finished product, producing an image identical to the original
1898 version.



LIGHTING DETAILS

Original lighting for the Courtroom was a combination gas
and electric chandelier, commonly called gaselier-electrolier.
Possibly five of these fixtures were hung from the ceiling in
1898, based on evidence of existing gas tubing in the ceiling.
Evidence of wall sconces at the front of the room behind the
judge’s bench was also discovered as were the original
locations for desk lights on the judges and clerk’s benches.
To produce sufficient foot candles of light and to comply with
New York State regulations, a chandelier was selected
exhibiting a large oval bowl with sphere shaped globes
projecting upward, simulating the gas up-lights of a gaselier-
electrolier. Matching wall sconces were purchased and
installed behind the judge’s bench. The fixtures on the
judge’s bench were re-fabricated from original chandeliers
found in the portico of this courthouse, dating from 1898.

PAINT SAMPLING AND MATCHING ‘ =
Paint samples were taken from walls, pilasters, capitals,
beams and ceiling and sent to a paint analysis expert in
Rhode Island who examined the paint samples under a
microscope. The finish layers of the samples were then
matched to a current paint color.




This photograph, thought to date from February 1911, is the only known historic photograph of the
Courtroom interior. Note the Seth Thomas clock hanging on the wall behind the juror’s box. Through a
series of remarkable events, this same clock now hangs in its former place of honor. Although in black and
white, this photograph documents a heated moment during legal proceedings and authenticates the history
of this courtroom.



TIN CEILING RESTORATION

An acoustic dropped ceiling covered the original tin courtroom
ceiling for about 50 years. After the drop ceiling, grid and
acoustic tiles were removed, a heavily damaged but still

remarkable tin ceiling was revealed, as shown in this photo.
- » .

Holes had been punched in the tin ceiling to access guide-
wires for the ceiling grid. Heating ducts dominated the
design of the ceiling, cutting through many tin components,
and destroying the integrity of the ceiling. Since the ceiling
is constructed of many standardized parts, it was thought
parts could be found somewhere and re-installed. After
many phone calls and internet searches, that avenue was
abandoned. The decision was made to repair the ceiling in
sitsu, on site. Scaffolding was built and the process began,
one square foot at a time. Workers cut out the damaged
parts. Molds were made from intact ceiling pieces. Then,
new pieces of ceiling were fabricated from these molds as
polymer replicas. The newly fabricated pieces were fitted to
the correct spot in the ceiling, feathered in and smoothed,
and this process was meticulously followed for each of the
hundreds of holes. Attention to detail was critical to the
success of this project.



Twelve to fifteen layers of paint were discovered on the tin
ceiling from microscopic observation. A few of the tin
ceiling parts were scraped, revealing gold leaf or bronzing
on the underside of the primary beams. At first it appeared
that a grayish green color was the first original painted
color on the ceiling, until further investigation divulged this
coat of paint to be an undercoating, and not a true finish
coat.

Other paint colors were discovered on various tin ceiling
parts and a color scheme was devised based upon these
findings. The dramatic effect can be seen below.




THE ODYSSEY OF THE COURTROOM CLOCK
By Russ Oechsle, Executive Assistant, Sixth Judicial District

While documentation is lacking, it may be surmised
from the evidence at hand that wall clocks obtained from
the Seth Thomas Clock Co. of Thomaston, Connecticut were
placed throughout the new County Courthouse. The only
example still intact is the courtroom clock, and its return to
the courtroom borders on the miraculous.

As noted above, only one photograph has been
found of the interior of the Main Courtroom, and that
artifact includes the blurry image of a clock positioned on
the pilaster above the jury box (see page 9). As a clock
collector, I was convinced that the clock dated from the
time of the construction of the courthouse. I was not
familiar with the model, but a little study revealed it to be
the “Lobby” model produced in the late 1800s and early
1900s by the Seth Thomas Clock Co. When produced, this
clock sold for less than $15, but today is considered a fairly
rare model valued in the thousands of dollars. The clock is
distinctive in that it features a high-quality brass timepiece
(only) movement with double springs, allowing the clock to
run for a month with only two windings. The case is solid
oak.

With an estimate of the clock’s value in hand, we
despaired of ever finding (or paying for) a replacement. A
mention of the courtroom restoration project in a Press &
Sun Bulletin article in May, 2002 led to a serendipitous call
by Binghamton resident and retired attorney Sinon O’Neil.
Incredibly, Mr. O'Neil claimed to have what he thought was
the courtroom clock! His story was fascinating. A long-time
clock collector, he had obtained the clock from a
Binghamton area collector in the 1970s. Years later he
became convinced it was the original courtroom clock when
he heard rumors that the clock had at one time resided in
the court-house, and then remembered seeing it during his
occasional visits to the courtroom during the 1950s when

he served as attorney to the Broome Department of Social
Services.



Sinon O’Neil, Esq. and Lauren Wise, Esq. pose with the re-
discovered courtroom clock at Sinon’s Binghamton home.

Dubious but interested, | visited Sinon’s home and was
amazed to find the clock, long affixed to Sinon’s den wall, in
remarkably good shape, with original finish intact, and with
perfect dial and gleaming movement. But was the provenance
supportable? As experienced public servants know, the
preferred method for repainting walls in public buildings is often
to paint “around” anything too heavy or difficult to move. This
invariably leaves a little paint residue on the edges of the
unmoved object. The clock was no exception! It was an easy job
to compare Evelyn Varney”s paint study results with the colors
of the paint lines, smudges and inadvertent drops left on the
clock. The exact color matches confirmed this to be the original
courtroom clock beyond a shadow of a doubt!

With Sinon insisting on donating the majority of the
value of the clock and with the Broome County Bar Association
in the person of President Lauren Wise agreeing to provide the
remainder, the return of the clock was secured. The plaque
dedicated today commemorates the generosity of both Mr. O'Neil,
who sadly passed away in April, 2003, and the members of the
Broome County Bar Association.



RESTORING THE BENCH LIGHTS

Early accounts of the courthouse abound with praise for the 118
chandeliers ordered for the new building, most being combination
gas/electric fixtures. Remarkably, it appeared that time had lefi the
Courthouse with not a single fixture intact. 1t had long been known
that the main bench originally featured two bench lights to provide
the judge with direct lighting, the design of which could be
ascertained from similar lights found in an old picture of the former

County Clerk’s Office. The clerk’s desk was also furnished with a
desk light. (See original on pg. 9). The project team had begun to
search for modern replacements when two original ceiling fixtures
were found intact in a Third Floor storage room over the front
portico. Remarkably, the design of these fixtures, when reversed,
were near exact duplicates of the original bench lights used in the
County Clerk’s Office. Through the expertise of talented lighting
restorer David Ward of Homer, NY, these lights were transformed
into the completely authentic lights now on the bench, complete
with antique shades. The clerk’s desk light components are a
combination of parts of the portico room lights and an antique, ca.
1899 fixture.



THE RESTORATION TEAM

=Project Planning Team =

Courts County
Russ Oechsle Harry Miller
Mike Husar Steve Elko
Karen Stephens
Mary Benally
Preservation Consultant
Evelyn Vamey

s Consultants & Contractors=s
O’Brien & Gere Consultants
Chris Engler Todd Farr Richard Kumpon
Brian Dean Anthony Stracuzzi Anh Ly

Jennings Environmental (Asbestos/Lead Testing)
Wayne Jennings James Mancuso Gerald Meyer

Prime Contractor - S& W Constractors, Inc.
Gary Stevens, Owner Ken Wescott, Foreman
Ron Foote

Evans Mechanical, Inc. (HVAC)
Derrick Packer Bob Groover Andy Payne

Chris Guyette Dave Macey Joe Leto



Paint Analysis
John Vaughn - Architectural Conservation Services, Bristol, RI
Bench & Seating Restoration
Northern Lights, Inc., Spencer, NY - Tim Guido
Bench Lighting Restoration
David Ward - Village Lamp Shop, Homer, NY
Clock Restoration
Movement: Amedeo Sylvester, Endicott, NY
Case: Russ Oechsle, Homer, NY

&FProject Workers=
S&W Construction Carpenters
Ken Wescott Frank Catlin Ron Foote
Jason Powell Gary Morelando Jeff Latier

Local #3 Plaster Workers

Victor Sak Victor Kadyleak
Vadim Grinyuk Vladimit Lagolskiy
Serge Petcheny Oleg Nevdakh

K.H.M, Inc. Painters
Ed. Clark and Nelson Zelesnikar

Broome County

Engineers: Tim Leonard Dave Goodspeed
Tom Andrus Bill Kowalewski
Special Thanks To:
Therese Haines, Exec. Asst. to Mr. Kraham
The Staff of the Broome Supreme & County Court
Pete Nowacki, 6™ District Operations Unit Supervisor



